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Argument  
 

The Evidence in Support of Count 8, Alleging Conspiracy to Commit 

Securities Fraud under 18 U.S.C. §§ 371, With Intent to Violate 15 U.S.C. 

§§78j (b) and 78 ff, Was Legally Insufficient to Warrant Consideration by 

the Jury 

 

A. The Charge Under Count 8 and the Government’s Proof 

 

  The Government was able to secure a conviction on County 8 only because it 

provided the jury with an inaccurate and severely prejudicial definition of the term “affiliate,” as 

that term is used by 17 CFR 230.144 (Rule 144). As will be set forth below, the evidence of Mr. 

Shkreli’s guilt on Count 8 is remarkably thin. However, by creating a false definition of the term 

“affiliate” and then by misapplying it to the facts, the Government gave the misimpression that 

Shkreli and Greebel lied and were deceptive in regard to which persons were legally, in truth, 

permitted to receive the Fearnow shares.   

1. The Government Created a Prejudicial Misimpression 

  The Government misinformed the jury in summation that “employees of 

Retrophin or (people) working there” are affiliates for purposes of the securities laws under 

Count 8.  Transcript, p. 5300.  During summation, the Government drummed into the jury this 

absolutely inaccurate definition of affiliate. (The relevant portion of the Government’s 

summation is attached as Exhibit 1). Having heard the Government repeatedly misstate this 

critical legal definition and how it applied to the specific facts underlying Count 8, the jury had 

almost no choice but to convict Shkreli.   

  After achieving its conviction on Count 8, the Government belatedly agreed that it 

will not argue at Greebel’s trial that “Fearnow Share recipients were ‘affiliates’ of Retrophin 

solely because they were Retrophin employees.” See Dkt. No. 346, p. 52. However, before 

admitting its error, the Government in its summation highlighted this legally inaccurate and 
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highly damaging definition of affiliate. On this point, the Government summation was as 

follows: 

As you heard Deb Oremland testify, if you’re an affiliate of the company, if you 

work there
1
, if you own more than a certain amount of stock, you actually can’t 

get free trading shares, they’re going to be subject to a restriction. So, in order to 

let them be free trading and actually be able to buy and sell them, you can’t be an 

affiliate. 

 

And so they have to all affirm that they’re not affiliated with Desert Gateway, 

which becomes Retrophin. So, they’re not to be employees of Retrophin or 

working there. And there’s a series of emails between Evan Greebel and all the 

Fearnow shares where they all say, you don’t have any connection to Retrophin,   

And that’s gets forwarded by Evan to the defendant so that he knows this is what 

everybody’s saying as well…. 

 

Here are the other people who agree that they’re not affiliates. Marek Biestek.  

Andrew Vaino. And we know that Andrew Vaino and Steve Aselage is actually 

someone who was in the San Diego office of Retrophin at the time.…But Andrew 

Vaino, Thomas Fernandez is also affirmed that he’s not an affiliate of Desert 

Gateway, which, again, becomes Retrophin.  And Kevin Mulleady represents that 

he’s not…. 

 

And then again, some of the people who were affirming that they had nothing to 

with Desert Gateway or Retrophin were, in fact, working there at the time.   

 

So Mulleady was working for Retrophin, when he received Fearnow shares.  

The termination date was - - he didn’t Retrophin until January 2013. So he get the 

Fearnow shares, he’s an affiliate.  

 

Vaino was a Retrophin employee through 2015. So, when he gets the 

Fearnow shares, he’s also an affiliate. 

 

Fernandez was a Retrophin employee through 2015. When he gets the 

Fearnow shares, he’s an affiliate 

 

And Ron Tilles was a consultant for Retrophin, so when he got shares of 

Retrophin, he was also considered an affiliate.     
 

Tr. 5300-02.  

                                                           
1
 Deb Oremland never testified that people who work at a company are affiliates, as will be 

argued below.  That the Government falsely sourced its admittedly inaccurate definition of 

affiliate to Deb Oremland makes this error all the more egregious.  See Tr. 4170.   
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  By misinforming the jury that employees of Retrophin or people who worked at 

Retrophin were affiliates, including specifically Mulleady, Vaino, Fernandez and Tilles, the 

Government all but assured themselves of a conviction on Count 8.   By falsely stating that these 

four people were affiliates, within the meaning of Rule 144, the Government was able to argue 

that Shkreli’s email dated December 17, 2012 (GX 242) was false and deceptive. As the 

Government argued in summation,  

And then the defendant sends this email, which is Government’s Exhibit 242, and 

he sends it to the Fearnow share recipients and he says, Effective immediately, 

I’m the CEO of Retrophin, and MSMB Capital, as you know, is liquidating, and 

basically says none of these people are employees of Retrophin. I decree, none of 

these people are employees of Retrophin. They shouldn’t be in the office, they’re 

not employees. And the reason he’s doing this is because he knows they just 

all affirmed that they’re not affiliates, and so they can’t be working for 

Retrophin. So this email he sends out, kind of wink, wink, nod, nod, nobody here 

works for Retrophin…. 

 

Tr. 5303 (emphasis added). 

  By falsely instructing the jury that affiliate means employee, the Government was 

able to argue that the purpose of Shkreli’s email was to create the impression that Mulleady, 

Vaino, Fernandez and Tilles were not affiliates because they were not employees.  However, 

since Rule 144 clearly provides (as the Government now admits) that someone can be an 

employee and not be an affiliate, Shkreli’s email is no longer deceptive. The truth is that 

Mulleady, Vaino, Fernandez and Tilles are not affiliates because they are not directors, officers 

or five-percent shareholders of the company. As a result, it is absolutely irrelevant, for purposes 

of receiving free-trading stock under Rule 144, whether or not they are employees.       

    Not only did the Government misstate the definition of affiliate, it falsely stated 

that Deb Oremland testified that affiliate means employee. Specifically, the Government asserted 

in summation, “as you heard Deb Oremland testify, if you’re an affiliate of the company, if you 
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work there …” Tr. 5300 (emphasis added). However, Oremland’s testimony on this point is as 

follows: 

 Q. You had mentioned a couple of times, the term “affiliate.”  What does it 

mean to be an affiliate? 

 

 A. Under Rule 144, an affiliate is someone who can exert a certain amount of 

control over a company, either they are an officer or director or they own a 

large amount of shares or they are controlled by someone who is an 

affiliate. 

 

Tr. 4170.  Plainly, Oremland never testified that an affiliate is an employee.  However, by falsely 

stating to the jury during summation that she did, the Government unfairly gave unwarranted 

credence to its inaccurate definition of affiliate.   

   In sum, by misstating the definition of “affiliate” to the jury and by misapplying 

this errant definition to the facts, the Government falsely gave the appearance that Shkreli and 

Greebel were deceptive when in fact they were not.  As will be set forth below, the balance of 

the evidence of guilt on Count 8 was remarkably weak, leading to the conclusion that the jury 

convicted Shkreli based its fundamental misunderstanding of “affiliate,” as created by the 

Government.            

2. Without the False Definition of “Affiliate,” The Evidence Is Insufficient   

  Martin Shkreli was acquitted of all the conspiracies with which he was charged 

other than his conviction under Count 8. He was only convicted of the remaining charges in 

Counts 3 and 6, alleging substantive offenses.
2
  

                                                           
2
 The Rule 29(a) motions directed toward those counts were adequately advanced at trial, and the 

claimed deficiencies in those counts, therefore, appropriately preserved for appeal. Accordingly, 

Defendant will concentrate his Rule 29(c) arguments at this time with respect to County 8 alone. 

Moreover, Defendant adopts and incorporates by references those challenges to Count 8 which 

are raised by Evan Greebel in his motions filed on March 27, 2017 (Dkt. No. 178), and his 

motions regarding the term “affiliate” filed on August 19, 2017 (Dkt. No. 337), and August 31, 

2017 (Dkt. No. 359).   
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  Specifically, Mr. Shkreli was acquitted of those conspiracies alleged in Counts 1 

(Conspiracy to commit securities fraud - MSMB Capital Scheme), 2 (Conspiracy to commit wire 

fraud - MSMB Capital Scheme), 4 (Conspiracy to commit securities fraud - MSMB Healthcare 

Scheme), and 5 (Conspiracy to commit wire fraud - MSMB Healthcare Scheme). In each of 

those counts he was charged with having entered into criminal agreements “together with 

others.” He was even acquitted of Count 7 (Conspiracy to commit wire fraud - Retrophin 

Scheme), where it was alleged that he was involved in a criminal agreement with “EVAN 

GREEBEL, together with others.” On the other hand, Defendant was convicted under Count 8 

(Conspiracy to commit securities fraud - Retrophin Unrestricted Securities Scheme).  

  As in the acquitted Count 7, Count 8 alleged that Shkreli had entered into a 

criminal agreement with “EVAN GREEBEL, together with others.” The Government’s theory 

was that Shkreli and others conspired to defraud investors and potential investors by seeking to 

control the price and trading volume of the Fearnow shares, while not disclosing his control over 

these shares in his Schedule 13D filings. GX 603; GX 605.  

  To support the theory that Mr. Shkreli conspired to control the trading volume of 

the stock, the Government relied, for the most part, on the insufficient testimony of Timothy 

Pierotti to show that Shkreli was deceiving investors in the marketplace and a December 17, 

2012 email referenced in the overt act alleged in ¶59(c) of the indictment. Pierotti’s one 

reference to Greebel was demonstrably inaccurate and false, and the email dated December 17, 

2012 did not even include Greebel as either a direct recipient or even as a copied recipient. The 

Government then alleged that when Mr. Pierotti began selling off his Fearnow shares in 

December, Mr. Shkreli and Mr. Greebel attempted to stop Fearnow recipients from selling in the 

open market by bringing them “over-the-wall.” 
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  Lastly, the Government alleged that when three Fearnow recipients contributed 

their shares to fulfill settlement agreements with Dr. Lindsay Rosenwald and Richard Kocher—

the conduct of which Mr. Shkreli was acquitted—this showed a criminal conspiracy to control 

the shares.     

  Most respectfully, contrary to this Court’s view of such proof as expressed in 

connection with Defendant’s initial Rule 29(a) motion, see Tr. 5055, even when considered in a 

light most favorable to the Government, while “crediting every inference that could have been 

drawn in the government's favor” and deferring to the “jury's resolution of the weight of the 

evidence and the credibility of the witnesses,” United States v. Ware, 577 F.3d 442, 447 (2d Cir. 

2009), this proof—as with the dearth of evidence in support of Count 7 of which Mr. Shkreli was 

acquitted—fails to establish the essential elements of the offense charged. Our analysis follows. 

B.  Governing Principles 

  1. Conspiracy 

  It is of course well settled that “under established case law, the fundamental 

characteristic of a conspiracy is a joint commitment to an ‘endeavor which, if completed, would 

satisfy all of the elements of [the underlying substantive] criminal offense.’” Ocasio v. United 

States, 136 S. Ct. 1423, 1429 (2016) (quoting Salinas v. United States, 522 U.S. 52, 65 (1997) 

(additional citations omitted). Otherwise stated, “[c]onspiracy is an inchoate offense, the essence 

of which is an agreement to commit an unlawful act. The conspirators must agree to commit an 

object crime.” United States v. Wexler, 522 F.3d 194, 207 (2d Cir. 2008) (citing Iannelli v. 

United States, 420 U.S. 770, 777 (1975) and United States v. Rosenblatt, 554 F.2d 36, 38 (2d Cir. 

1977). “The prohibition against criminal conspiracy, however, does not punish mere thought; the 
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criminal agreement itself is the actus reus.” United States v. Shabani, 513 U.S. 10, 16 (1994) 

(citation omitted). 

  From the standpoint of establishing a legally sufficient case, “[i]n order to prove a 

single conspiracy, the government must show that each alleged member agreed to participate in 

what he knew to be a collective venture directed toward a common goal. The coconspirators 

need not have agreed on the details of the conspiracy, so long as they agreed on the essential 

nature of the plan.” United States v. McDermott, 245 F.3d 133, 137 (2d Cir. 2001) (quoting 

United States v. Maldonado-Rivera, 922 F.2d 934, 963 [2d Cir.1990] [internal quotations and 

citations omitted]). Thus, “it is a long-standing principle of [the] law of conspiracy that 

‘[n]obody is liable in conspiracy except for the fair import of the concerted purpose or agreement 

as he understands it; if later comers change that, he is not liable for the change; his liability is 

limited to the common purposes while he remains in it.’” McDermott, supra (quoting United 

States v. Peoni, 100 F.2d 401, 403 (2d Cir.1938)). 

  The Second Circuit has “taken a bilateral approach to the crime of conspiracy: at 

least two people must agree. ‘When one of two persons merely pretends to agree, the other party, 

whatever he may believe, is in fact not conspiring with anyone.’” United States v. Valle, 807 

F.3d 508, 522–23 (2d Cir. 2015) (quoting United States v. Bicaksiz, 194 F.3d 390, 398 (2d 

Cir.1999)). Because a bilateral agreement is the essence of a conspiracy, “[i]t is axiomatic that 

more is required than mere knowledge of the purpose of a conspiracy.” United States v. Hawkins, 

547 F.3d 66, 74 (2d Cir. 2008) (citing Direct Sales Co. v. United States, 319 U.S. 703, 711-13 

(1943); United States v. Ceballos, 340 F.3d 115, 124 (2d Cir. 2003)). Moreover, although not 

requiring any more, a conspiracy to commit a substantive offense “cannot exist without at least 

the degree of criminal intent necessary for the substantive offense itself[.]” United States v. 

Case 1:15-cr-00637-KAM   Document 363-1   Filed 09/08/17   Page 11 of 27 PageID #: 8451



8 

 

Allen, 788 F.3d 61, 70 (2d Cir. 2015) (citing Ingram v. United States, 360 U.S. 672, 678 (1959) 

(internal quotation marks omitted) and United States v. Feola, 420 U.S. 671 (1975)). 

  2. Securities Fraud 

  The statute which was charged as the object of the alleged conspiracy under 18 

U.S.C. § 371 was 15 U.S.C.A. § 78j (b) (entitled “manipulative and deceptive devices.”). That 

section states:  

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by the use of any means 

or instrumentality of interstate commerce or of the mails, or of any facility of any 

national securities exchange– 

      *** 

 

(b) To use or employ, in connection with the purchase or sale of any security 

registered on a national securities exchange or any security not so 

registered, or any securities-based swap agreement any manipulative or 

deceptive device or contrivance in contravention of such rules and 

regulations as the Commission may prescribe as necessary or appropriate 

in the public interest or for the protection of investors. 

 

  In turn, the referenced rule of the Securities and Exchange Commission that 

underscored the theory of this count is codified at 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 (“Rule 10b-5”). That 

provision states: 

 It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by the 

use of any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, or of 

the mails or of any facility of any national securities exchange, 

 

(a) To employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud, 

 

(b) To make any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a 

material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light 

of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, or 

 

(c) To engage in any act, practice, or course of business which operates or 

would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person, in connection with the 

purchase or sale of any security. 
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  The elements in security fraud cases are well settled. “Liability for securities 

fraud [ ] requires proof that the defendant acted with scienter, which is defined as ‘a mental state 

embracing intent to deceive, manipulate or defraud.’” United States v. Litvak, 808 F.3d 160, 178 

(2d Cir. 2015) (quoting United States v. Newman, 773 F.3d 438, 447 (2d Cir.2014) (quoting 

Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 193 n. 12 (1976)), abrogated on other grounds, 

Salman v. United States, 137 S. Ct. 420 (2016)]). See also S.E.C. v. Obus, 693 F.3d 276, 286 (2d 

Cir. 2012). On the other hand, the operative actus reus is obviously the use of “any manipulative 

or deceptive device or contrivance” in furtherance of contravening the cited SEC rule.  

  Importantly, “‘[m]anipulation’ is ‘virtually a term of art when used in connection 

with securities markets. The term refers generally to practices, such as wash sales, matched 

orders, or rigged prices, that are intended to mislead investors by artificially affecting market 

activity.” Santa Fe Industries., Inc. v. Green, 430 U.S. 462, 476 (1977) (quoting Ernst & Ernst v. 

Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, at 199 (1976)).
3
 Essentially, therefore,  “[t]he gravamen of 

manipulation is deception of investors into believing that prices at which they purchase and sell 

securities are determined by the natural interplay of supply and demand, not rigged by 

manipulators.” Gurary v. Winehouse, 190 F.3d 37, 45 (2d Cir. 1999) (citing Schreiber v. 

Burlington Northern, Inc., 472 U.S. 1, 12 (1985)). 

  With regard to the requisite scienter, “[i]n the context of other securities laws, the 

language ‘fraudulent, deceptive, or manipulative’ has been construed to reach conduct motivated 

                                                           
3
 “‘Wash’ sales are defined as ‘transactions having no change in beneficial ownership,’” Ernst & 

Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. at 205, n.25, and matched orders are defined as “orders for the 

purchase/sale of a security that are entered with the knowledge that orders of substantially the 

same size, at substantially the same time and price, have been or will be entered by the same or 

different persons for the sale/purchase of such security.” Id. 
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by either intent to defraud or intent to deceive.” United States v. Tagliaferri, 820 F.3d 568, 574 

(2d Cir. 2016) (citing Schreiber v. Burlington N., Inc., 472 U.S. 1, 12 (1985) and quoting Ernst 

& Ernst, 425 U.S. at 199, for the proposition that “[‘Manipulative’] connotes intentional or 

willful conduct designed to deceive or defraud investors by controlling or artificially affecting 

the price of securities”) (emphasis supplied by Tagliaferri court).  

  In turn, as to “wilful,” “‘[w]hen used in a criminal statute, it generally means an 

act done with a bad purpose.’” Tagliaferri, 820 F.3d at 573 (quoting Screws v. United States, 325 

U.S. 91, 101 (1945) (internal quotation marks omitted) and Bryan v. United States, 524 U.S. 184, 

191 (1998) (holding that “willfully” requires only “that the defendant acted with knowledge that 

his conduct was unlawful.” (internal quotation marks omitted)). Thus, the Second Circuit “has 

held in contexts similar to this one that to prove willfulness, ‘the prosecution need only establish 

a realization on the defendant's part that he was doing a wrongful act.’” Tagliaferri, 820 F.3d at 

573 (quoting United States v. Dixon, 536 F.2d 1388, 1395 (2d Cir.1976) (Friendly, J.) (internal 

quotation marks omitted); and citing United States v. Kaiser, 609 F.3d 556, 567-70 (2d Cir. 

2010)). 

  In furtherance of any such alleged scheme, “[a] fraudulent statement made in 

violation of section 10(b) must therefore be a statement made ‘in connection with the purchase or 

sale of any security.’” United States v. Kelley, 551 F.3d 171, 175 (2d Cir. 2009). Moreover, 

“once full and fair disclosure has occurred, the fairness of the terms of the transaction is at most 

a tangential concern of the statute.” Santa Fe Indus., Inc. v. Green, 430 U.S. 462, 478 (1977) 

(citing Mills v. Electric Auto-Lite Co., 396 U.S. 375, 381-85 (1970)). 

  All things considered, “courts must distinguish between legitimate trading 

strategies intended to anticipate and respond to prevailing market forces and those designed to 
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manipulate prices and deceive purchasers and sellers.” GFL Advantage Fund, Ltd. v. Colkitt, 272 

F.3d 189, 205 (3d Cir. 2001). Thus, as noted by the Third Circuit, 

Requiring a Section 10(b) plaintiff to establish that the alleged manipulator 

injected “inaccurate information” into the market or created a false impression of 

market activity cures this problem. Such a construction permits courts to 

differentiate between legitimate trading activities that permissibly may influence 

prices, such as short sales, and “ingenious devices that might be used to 

manipulate securities prices,”  such as wash sales and matched orders.  

Id. (citing Santa Fe Industries., 430 U.S. at 477). 

C. Discussion 

  “Although...a defendant's knowing agreement to join a conspiracy must, more 

often than not, be proven through circumstantial evidence, and even though we must view all the 

evidence as pieces of a unified whole, the circumstantial evidence here was simply too thin to 

warrant an inference of guilty knowledge on the part of [Martin Shkreli].” United States v. 

Nusraty, 867 F.2d 759, 764 (2d Cir. 1989) (citing United States v. Manton, 107 F.2d 834, 839 

(2d Cir.1939), cert. denied, 309 U.S. 664 (1940) and Glasser v. United States, 315 U.S. 60, 80 

(1942)). According to Count 8, the alleged agreement is supposed to have existed among Mr. 

Shkreli and the Fearnow share recipients and/or between him and Evan Greebel as the indicted 

co-conspirator. The fact is, however, there is not an iota of evidence as to either of these theories 

supporting any semblance of an agreement, let alone one that contemplated a violation of 15 

U.S.C. § 78j(b).  Simply put, there is no proof of any “joint commitment to an endeavor which, if 

completed, would satisfy all of the elements of [that] criminal offense.” Ocasio v. United States, 

supra, 136 S. Ct. at 1429. Therefore, there is no proof that either Mr. Shkreli, Evan Greebel or 

any Fearnow recipients had knowingly and willfully joined any conspiracy. United States v. 

Svoboda, 347 F.3d 471, 476 (2d Cir. 2003), cert. denied sub. nom., Robles v. United States 541 

U.S. 1044 (2004). 
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  Pierrotti’s testimony certainly did not support any such understanding between 

Mr. Shkreli and Greebel. And the e-mail introduced—Exhibit 242, which does not even list 

Greebel as a recipient—does not amount to either direct or circumstantial evidence of any such 

agreement. Rather, the email only shows Defendant giving instructions as the CEO of Retrophin 

to former employees who do not even qualify as “affiliates” and hence, would not be otherwise 

precluded from trading their Fearnow shares (as explained in co-Defendant’s Greebel’s motion 

in limine, see Dkt. No. 337). Based on this analysis, there is absent evidence of an agreement 

between Mr. Shkreli and Greebel, or between either of them and any of the Fearnow recipients, 

to commit, via an affirmative act of deception or deception by omission, the substantive 

securities fraud alleged as the object of the non-existent agreement.  

  Indeed, even the trading records introduced undercut any finding that there was 

any agreement to deceive. Aside from not establishing any requisite agreement in this testimony, 

Pierotti’s own trading activity indicates no agreement existed because he had no purchases of 

Retrophin, but only sales. The fact is that some Fearnow recipients (e.g. Tom Fernandez) did 

nothing with their shares. Others sold, and some made buys, with the result that the percentage of 

activity in the stock by Fearnow recipients remained under 5%. 

    As far as any proof of an agreement between Defendant and Evan Greebel is 

concerned, there is simply no independent evidence of any such mutual understanding to deceive 

anyone. Moreover, all other e-mails between Mr. Shkreli and Greebel, introduced through Agent 

Braconi, fall into the category of advice of counsel, absent evidence that either Mr. Shkreli or 

Greebel agreed to deceive.  Accordingly, the Government has failed to establish “that each 

alleged member agreed to participate in what he knew to be a collective venture directed toward 
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a common goal” with an agreement “on the essential nature of the plan.” McDermott, supra, 245 

F.3d at 137.  

  Concerning the alleged object offense of 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), the only part of 

Pierotti’s testimony that is even relevant to these statutory requisites—yet certainly falls 

decidedly short of proving them—was his statement at Tr. 4264-65. There, when asked about 

conversations with Mr. Shkreli regarding Pierotti’s ability to free trade the 350,000 shares of 

Desert Gateway that he had purchased, he explained: 

Well, there were several conversations. And very often they're not conversations, 

they're more Martin just kind of speaking out loud. But there were conversations 

and there were discussions and there were comments by Martin that people who 

have trading experience should trade the stock; buy it, sell it , buy it, sell it....  

 

Stocks are more valuable if they have more liquidity. And the liquidity is 

measured by the volume of the stock. So, if a group of people decided to just trade 

stock back and forth amongst themselves for the purpose of creating volume...
4 

 

  Given this testimony, upon addressing Count 8 at the time of the initial Rule 29 

motion, counsel noted that “there’s a lot of smoke but no substance.” Tr. 5051. Counsel 

elaborated that Pierotti “does not testify that Mr. Shkreli specifically said, I want people to buy 

and sell and sell and create volume. He doesn’t say that, so there’s no evidence of that in the 

record.” Tr. 5052. In response, the Court inquired, 

Doesn’t he encourage them to buy and sell, he does not say because I want to 

create volume, but he does say please or applicably, you know, trade these shares 

and buy and sell[?] 

 

Id.  

  The December 17
th

 and 18
th

 emails are then discussed (admitted as Govt.’s 

exhibits 242 and 120-14), with counsel arguing that “I don’t think that this e-mail suggests 

anything untoward in terms of securities fraud.” Tr. 5054. As Counsel explained: 

                                                           
4
 The balance of this sentence was stricken from the record. Tr. 4271. 
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Now, I don’t think that it is wrong for an executive to want trading volume in the 

stock or even to encourage trading volume in the stock. What’s wrong is to do it 

by fraudulent means and fraudulent means some element of deception.  

 

Tr. 5055. 

  Responding, the Court stated: 

This is, I think what I understand the importance of this e-mail is that this is what 

is left to you who have free-trading shares and he is indicating to them that they 

should help out by increasing the [] trading volume, which to the outside public 

could create a false impression about what is going on. And I think the 

allegations, as I understand it, is to artificially increase or pump up the volume 

and perhaps the share price of the restricted shares.  

 

So I think the e-mail was, you know, important to the evidence that the jury 

would consider regarding the conspiracy to commit securities fraud allegation. 

 

Id. 

  Counsel then rejoined: 

 

the essence of the  typical pump and dump that we don't have here and we don't 

have anything remotely similar is in pump and dumps there's deception. In other 

words, there is invariably some type of public information that is deceptive in 

some way. There are false statements being made by the company to pump up the 

volume or the stock or price of the stock.  

 

We don't have anything of that here. I don't think there's anything remotely 

inappropriate about Mr. Shkreli asking people to trade because through trading 

and through -- that the volume -- that the price of the stock would go up. I think 

it's illegal when it becomes deceptive. 

 

Tr. 5056-57. 

  Concluding the argument, the Court stated: 

I tell you what one has to look at is the evidence about what happened before this 

December 18
th

 e-mail. And again, construing the evidence in the light most 

favorable to the Government, what happened before this is that the e-mail was 

sent to this group of eight saying You're no longer Retrophin employees. But you 

are to go out and buy these unrestricted shares at a heavily discounted price. They 

are then asked to sign a document by Mr. Greebel in December, this is December 

13th, where they say that they do not alone or together with any other person 

exercise control over Desert Gateway and they say, you know, I am not an officer, 

director of holder of more than 10 percent. 
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The idea is that together those shares absolutely amount to more than 10 percent, I 

believe, and also allowed some exercise of control over those free-trading shares.  

 

And then the []overt act, Number C, on Page 31 of Paragraph 59, you know, is 

that e-mail where he, quote, fires everybody yet he is summoning people to come 

in to the office. Mr. Mulleady is told, Come in, we need you. He's sick, but he's to 

come in. Pierotti is told, Come in, we need you to work. 

 

And so I think that there is a level of obfuscation or deception that is being 

conveyed to the outside world, but within Retrophin there's this group of eight 

who are taking direction which, for the most part with a few exceptions, 

specifically Mr. Pierotti and maybe Mr. Fernandez to some extent, but they're 

taking directions from Mr. Shkreli regarding those shares. 

 

And moreover those shares from those group of eight are being used to final up 

claims with certain MSMB Capital, [E]lea Capital and MSMB Healthcare 

Investors. So there's control over their shares.  

 

Tr. 5057-58. 

  But, to some degree, the colloquy above misses the essential point:  This was a 

conspiracy charge, and there was no proved meeting of the minds that ever resulted from that e-

mail, or any other email. Further, it is respectfully submitted that the Court was reading far more 

into these emails as the basis for criminal liability under the applicable securities fraud provision 

than is even facially denoted therein. Moreover, “control” is not the central issue. Rather, an 

agreement to deceive the public is what was required, and there is no evidence that any requisite 

agreement to deceive ever existed.  

  In the December 17
th

 email referenced by the Court (GX 242), Mr. Shkreli stated 

the following to the entire firm: 

Effective immediately, I am the CEO of Retrophin Inc. MSMB Capital is, as you 

know, liquidating its hedge funds and his process should be complete shortly. 

Retrophin has 4 employees: myself, Leonora Izerne, Jackson Su and Michael 

Smith. If you are not on this list, you are not an employee or consultant to 

Retrophin and no longer an employee or consultant to Retrophin if you were 

previously. The same applies to MSMB Capital.  
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You may use the 777 3rd Avenue office as a courtesy, but must attach yourself to 

another corporate identity (for instance, Marek Biestek's Wentworth or Ron Tilles' 

Claridge). You must not use MSMB Capital or Retrophin email accounts, other 

than for a brief courtesy period. 

 

Finally, to my knowledge, no one other than the 4 direct employees mentioned 

and our Board of Directors, has material non-public information regarding 

Retrophin. If you choose to use the 777 3rd Avenue office, please refrain from 

asking me about developments regarding Retrophin. Any such inquiries will be 

met with a "no comment" from myself and any Retrophin employee. 

 

It was a pleasure working with you on Retrophin and MSMB Capital. I wish you 

all of the best in your future endeavors. 

  As counsel argued, there was simply nothing deceptive or untrue in this firm wide 

announcement. Defendant had restructured his business, thereby enabling former employees (not 

“affiliates”) to own and trade shares, while limiting their access in order to preclude those 

shareholders from becoming privy to inside information.  

  Moreover, the fact that Mr. Shkreli sent another email the next day indicating that 

one of his “priorities for the future was increasing the trading volume in our stock - anything 

anyone can do to help in this regard is welcome,” GX 120-14, does not undermine this 

understanding in the least. As counsel rightly argued,  

I don’t think that it is wrong for an executive to want trading volume in the stock 

or even to encourage trading volume in the stock. What’s wrong is to do it by 

fraudulent means and fraudulent means some element of deception.  

Tr. 5055. Further,  

I don't think there's anything remotely inappropriate about Mr. Shkreli asking 

people to trade because through trading and through -- that the volume -- that the 

price of the stock would go up. I think it's illegal when it becomes deceptive.  

 

Tr. 5056-57. 

  In addition, Government Exhibit 120-14 is an email that was distributed to some 

of the Fearnow recipients, but not all. Thus, Andrew Vaino is a Fearnow share recipient and he is 

not included on this email. And another critical detail about this email is that individuals who did 
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not receive Fearnow shares are included. Specifically, Brent Saunders, Darren Blanton and 

George Haywood all received the email introduced as Government exhibit 120-14. Simply 

stated, it cannot be evidence of an agreement to deceive, or an agreement to artificially create 

volume, when individuals who did not have the freely trading Fearnow shares, the alleged tool of 

the conspiracy, are included in the email. No rational juror could use this email to reach a 

conclusion that there was an agreement between Mr. Shkreli and Mr. Greebel to deceive the 

public, or an agreement between Mr. Shkreli and the Fearnow share recipients to deceive the 

public for the simple reason that the public (i.e., Sanders, Blanton and Haywood) was a recipient 

of the email!  

  Clearly, such a well published e-mail, disseminated on such a widespread basis, is 

bereft of the sort of deception contemplated by the statute. So, given that “[l]iability for 

securities fraud [ ] requires proof that the defendant acted with scienter, which is defined as ‘a 

mental state embracing intent to deceive, manipulate or defraud[,]’” Litvak, 808 F.3d at 178, 

these emails cannot support an intent to commit securities fraud. A fortiori, they certainly cannot 

support an agreement to commit a securities fraud, and hence, any conspiracy in furtherance of a 

securities fraud, which requires the same mens rea.  

  Otherwise stated, in addition to the absence of an agreement, totally lacking in the 

government’s proof was evidence of the essential deceptive or “manipulative” device or 

contrivance which is “virtually a term of art when used in connection with securities markets.” 

Santa Fe Indus., Inc., 430 U.S. at 476 (quoting Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 199 

(1976)). Indeed, there is simply nothing approaching the “practices, such as wash sales, matched 

orders, or rigged prices, that are intended to mislead investors by artificially affecting market 

activity.” Santa Fe Indus., Inc., 430 U.S. at 476.  
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  Query: Where is the “deception of investors into believing that prices at which 

they purchase and sell securities are determined by the natural interplay of supply and demand, 

not rigged by manipulators,” Gurary v. Winehouse, 190 F.3d at 45. Rather, all Defendant was 

doing was encouraging legitimate trading by persons who had never been precluded from 

engaging in such practice based on their status as “affiliates” with Retrophin. As noted, they 

were not, and could not have been, affiliates under the law. Consequently, Mr. Shkreli’s decision 

to encourage trading was a legitimate business decision that no rule or statute precluded him 

from making. 

  There did not exist any cognizable conduct motivated by any intent to defraud or 

deceive anyone. United States v. Tagliaferri, 820 F.3d at 574. Nor, was there intentional or 

willful conduct on Defendant’s part “designed to deceive or defraud investors by controlling or 

artificially affecting the price of securities.” Although Defendant certainly wanted the value of 

the stock to appreciate, the price would rise naturally by virtue of wholly legitimate trading. In 

other words, there is no statement, let alone agreed upon conduct amounting to “constructive 

fraud,” United States v. Royer, 549 F.3d 886, 900 (2d Cir. 2008), that supports any intentional, 

purposeful or willful agreement to violate the securities fraud statute.  

  There certainly was no conduct alleged which amounted to an agreement 

designed to pump up the stock to artificial levels, only to precipitately dump it at top value, 

thereby leaving unknowing shareholders holding the bag.  Cf. United States v. Salmonese, 352 

F.3d 608, 612 (2d Cir. 2003). On such premises, the prosecution has simply not “establish[ed] a 

realization on the defendant's part that he was doing a wrongful act.’” Tagliaferri, 820 F.3d at 

573.  
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  So understood, there was unquestionably disclosure, not deception, in the mass 

email to a wide audience as to Defendant’s intentions. Therefore, because “the fairness of the 

terms of the transaction is at most a tangential concern of the statute,” Santa Fe Indus., Inc. v. 

Green, 430 U.S. at 478, to the extent that there was, even arguably, any residual unfairness to 

anyone else, it does not, ipso facto, translate into actionable criminal deception.   

  Yet, the Government might point to additional emails, such as GX 120-11, where 

Michael Smith, Mr. Shkreli’s assistant, wrote to the Fearnow shareholders and Leonora Izerne: 

Starting today, I will need everyone to give me a summary of their holdings every 

morning. For the time being, I only need the holding summary of the Scott trade 

account you recently opened, even if there is nothing in it. In the future, I may 

also require holding summaries from any other accounts that are being actively 

traded. 

 

While the Government views this email as evidence of Mr. Shkreli’s conspiracy to control the 

trading volume of the shares, the fact remains that it does not reflect an agreement to pump up 

the volume of the stock.  As reflected by the trading records, many of the recipients chose to sell 

the stock, and many chose to hold onto it.   

  The Government alleged that Mr. Shkreli’s method of control shifted when Mr. 

Shkreli and his alleged coconspirators could not pump up the price of the stock. Next, Mr. 

Shkreli allegedly conspired to prevent Mr. Pierotti from selling it. In support of its flawed theory, 

the Government relied on the “over-the-wall” email (GX 120-17) and Mr. Shkreli’s letter to Mr. 

Pierotti (GX 120-19). The “over-the-wall” email, however, was directed to all of the Fearnow 

recipients, the largest shareholders of the corporation at a time when the stock was suffering and 

Mr. Shkreli was pursuing a Private Placement of Private Equity (the “PIPE”).  
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  While the Government uses this email as a source of a criminal conspiracy, it is 

exactly the opposite. Mr. Shkreli ends this letter by specifically counseling the Fearnow 

recipients to seek legal advice:  

It has also occurred to me that some of you may be need access to counsel given 

the complex nature of these transactions. Please keep in mind that we have 5 law 

firms who are willing to provide you advice free-of-charge.  All you have to do is 

ask. 

 

GX 120-17. This email does not establish a conspiracy to control the trading price.  If that were 

the case, then Mr. Shkreli would not be advising Retrophin employees and consultants to retain 

counsel.   

  Likewise, Mr. Shkreli’s letter to Kristen Pierotti does not establish a method of 

control either.  GX 120-19.  In the letter, Mr. Shkreli wrote: 

We recently re-negotiated Tim’s association with our companies which would 

provide him, in exchange for showing up to work every day and applying his 

efforts to grow our collective wealth, 400,000 shares of Retrophin, the company I 

started. Tim took the stock and ran off.  He refuses to return our phone calls. This 

is called fraud.  

 

I had Tim’s stock account frozen at his brokerage firm. I am a very determined 

person, Ms. Pierotti. Your husband has stolen $1.6 million from me and I will get 

it back. I will go to any length necessary to get it back. Mr. Pierotti has informed 

my partner that you or he have some kind of legal counsel to assist you against a 

“frivolous” lawsuit. This is not frivolous. Your husband has broken a contract that 

no less than 7 people are willing to sign an affidavit attesting to…. 

 

Id. 

  Throughout his testimony, Mr. Pierotti stated that he and Marek Biestek were 

building an entity, Wentworth, which was working to acquire the company Garreco. Mr. Biestek 

and Mr. Pierotti continued to work out of Retrophin and MSMB’s office space. This is also 

reflected in GX 242. As is clear from this letter, Mr. Shkreli expected that Pierotti and Biestek 

would continue to work under the Retrophin umbrella while building Wentworth. Therefore, the 
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Fearnow shares were an incentive to continue work and Mr. Shkreli’s letter to Kristen Pierotti is 

a reflection of that agreement.   

  The Government also alleged that the emails between Mr. Greebel and Mr. 

Shkreli, discussing settlement agreements with Dr. Lindsay Rosenwald and Mr. Richard Kocher, 

show Mr. Shkreli’s control over the Fearnow shares. Indeed, in order to satisfy the settlement 

agreements with Rosenwald and Kocher, Messrs. Sullivan, Biestek, and Vaino gave shares. 

Although the Government looks to this as evidence of control, the opposite conclusion must be 

drawn. There is ample evidence in the record of both Rosenwald and Kocher threatening 

lawsuits against Shkreli and Retrophin.  GX 258; GX 261.    

  After Rosenwald’s attorney sent a letter to Mr. Shkreli threatening a lawsuit, titled 

“Your Unauthorized Conversion of Dr. Rosenwald’s Investment,” (GX 258), Mr. Shkreli and 

Mr. Greebel began negotiations.  It is telling that Mr. Shkreli’s first offer to settle this potential 

lawsuit was “an additional 24,000 shares…to settle this matter.”  GX 261. This first offer did not 

contemplate freely trading shares.  However, with continued negotiations, Dr. Rosenwald made 

it clear that he favored liquidity. Tr. 1980.  Mr. Sullivan and Mr. Biestek then gave 80,000 shares 

to satisfy the settlement agreement of 80,000 freely trading shares. To satisfy Mr. Kocher’s 

settlement agreement after threatened litigation, Mr. Vaino transferred roughly 40,000 freely 

trading shares. Although the Government views this as control over the shares, transferring the 

only freely trading shares was a legitimate business decision for the CEO, the company counsel, 

a consultant and employees of the company to make in order to avoid two lawsuits in the 

company’s infancy.   

  In the final analysis, however, even if such proof suggests, or even demonstrates, 

that Shkreli solicited buys and sales on the part of the Fearnow shareholders, the reality is that 
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there was no agreement to comply, and certainly no actual compliance by those persons, with 

any such “demand” which would have demonstrated what this court characterized as “control 

over their shares” by Defendant. Tr. 5058. In other words, for purposes of the law of conspiracy, 

there was clearly lacking the requisite bilateral agreement in which any one person, besides 

Defendant, would have participated. United States v. Valle, supra, 807 F.3d at 522–23. Hence, 

since Defendant is not charged with substantive Securities fraud under Count 8, but only a 

conspiracy to commit same as an object offense which required an agreement with someone, the 

evidence falls strikingly short.  

  Moreover, because “[t]he gravamen of manipulation is deception of investors into 

believing that prices at which they purchase and sell securities are determined by the natural 

interplay of supply and demand, not rigged by manipulators,” Gurary v. Winehouse, supra, 190 

F.3d at 45, such a bilateral agreement to violate the elements of 15 U.S.C. § 78j (b) was not 

proven. The charges in Count 8, therefore, should not have been submitted to the jury.    

  Otherwise stated, there is absent any proof of an agreement to employ “any 

device, scheme, or artifice to defraud,” Rule 10b-5(a); there is absent any proof of any agreement 

to utilize “any untrue statement of a material fact” or the failure “to state a material fact 

necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which 

they were made, not misleading,” Rule 10b-5(b); and there is absent any proof of any agreement 

to commit “any act, practice, or course of business which operates or would operate as a fraud or 

deceit upon any person, in connection with the purchase or sale of any security.” Rule 10b-5(c).  
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